1965

Vernon J. Smith v. Wilmer Lee Barnett : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Plaintiff seeks to recover damages for personal injuries sustained by him when he was walking south on State Street crossing Rainbow Drive in Murray, Utah, from the sidewalk on the north side of Rainbow Drive to the sidewalk on the south side of Rainbow Drive and was struck by defendant's car which was making a left turn to the east from State Street onto Rainbow Drive.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury which returned a verdict of no cause of action in favor of the defendant and against

the plaintiff, upon which a judgment of no cause of action was entered.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks an order remanding the case to the trial court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff brought action against the defendant to recover damages sustained in an auto-pedestrian accident that occurred where Rainbow Drive intersects State Street in Murray, Utah, on December 29, 1962, at approximately 6:15 p. m. State Street at Rainbow Drive is a six lane highway and includes a left turn lane for south-bound traffic at Rainbow Drive. Rainbow Drive terminates at State Street. There is a sidewalk on the east side of State Street, both north and south of Rainbow Drive, which sidewalk is 12 feet 5 inches from the curb to the Montek Building, which building is situated on the south side of Rainbow Drive and the east side of State Street (R. 118). From the east curb on State Street to the first painted line for the east lane of north-bound traffic, and which includes a parking lane, is 20 feet 7 inches (R. 117). The inside lane is 11 feet 5 inches and the westerly most lane for north-bound traffic is 10 feet 11 inches to the center island (R. 117). From the southerly most point of the left turn island to the east edge of the sidewalk area entering Rainbow Drive is 86 feet 6 inches (R. 117). Rainbow Drive from curb to curb, excluding sidewalk, is 34 feet 8 inches (R. 116, 117). There is a street light approximately 100 feet south of Rainbow Drive on the east side of State

Street, a street light approximately 100 feet north of Rainbow Drive on State Street and a street light directly across State Street from Rainbow Drive on the west side of State Street approximately 100 feet (R. 115), (Exhibit 7P).

The plaintiff approached Rainbow Drive walking south on the east side of State Street (R. 194). When he arrived at Rainbow Drive he stopped, looked east on Rainbow Drive, looked for traffic coming north on State Street and looked to his right to see if any vehicles were in the left turn lane for south-bound traffic. There was no traffic in the left turn lane (R. 195). There was traffic moving north on State Street (R. 195). Plaintiff proceeded to walk across Rainbow Drive from the sidewalk on the north to the sidewalk on the south (R. 196, 197). Plaintiff traveled 24 feet 8 inches from the north curb of Rainbow Drive, or 2/3 of the way across Rainbow Drive (R. 196), when he was struck by defendant's vehicle (R. 116). The impact occurred 10 feet 11 inches from the south curb of Rainbow Drive (R. 115). Plaintiff saw defendant's car lights on him just prior to the impact. Plaintiff cried out to stop and attempted to get out of the way but could not (R. 196). Plaintiff was struck near the center of defendant's car toward the right side, denting the hood of defendant's car (R. 119) and knocking defendant a distance of 20 feet 7 inches (R. 116, 197) directly in front of defendant's car (R. 113).

The road surface was dry and it was dark (R. 119).

Defendant did not see the plaintiff until the impact, at which time he saw plaintiff go in the air (R. 120, 271, 276). Defendant could see the sidewalk area from the left turn lane, but he did not see the plaintiff crossing Rainbow Drive

(R. 279). Defendant turned left in front of a north-bound oncoming vehicle (R. 275, 280).

Plaintiff suffered a large hematoma over his lumbar area, an egg-like lump on the back of his head, large abrasion over his buttocks with discoloration (R. 135) black and blue spots over his legs and his sides (R. 141) resulting in a subdural hydroma (R. 161) and ruptured discs in his neck that required fusion (R. 173).

Trial of the case was conducted Thursday, December 10, and Friday, December 11, 1965. Court was in recess over the weekend, December 12 and 13, 1965, and reconvened Monday, December 14, 1965, for instructing the jury, argument, and submission to the jury. During the weekend recess, one juror, Carl B. Fuller, visited the scene of the accident, stopped in the left turn lane, turned left onto Rainbow Drive, and made tests concerning his speed (R. 97). The tests made by Fuller and his visitation of the scene of the accident were discussed by Fuller in the jury room (R. 96, 95, 94) and influenced Fuller's verdict.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL BASED ON JURY MISCONDUCT.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON UNAVOIDABLE ACCIDENT.

POINT 3

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INSTRUCTING

THE JURY TO DISREGARD THE TESTIMONY CONCERNING LOSSES SUSTAINED BY PLAINTIFF IN HIS BUSINESS.

POINT 4

THE INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY AS A WHOLE WERE PREJUDICIAL TO THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT 5

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBER 6.

POINT 6

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBER 1.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL BASED ON JURY MISCONDUCT.

There is no question but what there was misconduct on the part of the jury by juror Fuller making an unauthorized inspection of the premises and making tests concerning speed while he was at the premises and discussing the results of his inspection and tests in the jury room. The question here involved is whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial.

The law generally is stated in Jones on Evidence, 5th Edition, Section 462, page 874, as follows:

“A proposition that a juror or individual jurors have no right to investigate or acquire information relating to the case outside of that which is presented to them in the course of the trial in accordance with regular trial procedure, is too elementary to require discussion. Similarly it is improper conduct on the part of the jury to view the locus in quo or to make an experiment which has a bearing on the issue of the case; they may not thus gain knowledge concerning matters in dispute except under the supervision of the court.

* * *

Misconduct of this character on the part of the jury furnishes grounds for a new trial * * *”

In the Oregon case of *Schneider vs. Moe*, 50 P 2d 577 one of the jurors without the consent of the court and without the knowledge of either the Plaintiff or the Defendant went to the scene of the accident to determine whether a witness standing at the place testified to could have seen the accident. The Oregon Court stated at page 579:

“We think that when the action of this juror had been disclosed to the trial court by the uncontradicted affidavits filed in support of the motion for a new trial and no explanation or denial of this unwarranted conduct upon the part of one of the jurors had been made, the motion should have been granted, and its refusal by the trial court was an abuse of discretion.”

The Oregon Court goes on to quote from other jurisdictions, and particularly quotes *Woodbury vs. City of Anoka*, 52 Minn. 329, 54 N. W. 187, where two jurors had visited the scene of the accident. The court said:

"There can be no question that what was done by the two jurors may have had an influence on their minds unfavorable to the plaintiff. It is manifest, from their making the examination, that they thought that by making it they could learn something proper for them to consider in coming to a verdict. Perhaps they thought they could determine from it whether the witnesses for Plaintiff, testifying that at the time of and before the injury the sidewalk was in general bad condition, or the witnesses for Defendant, testifying to the contrary, were to be believed. It is impossible to say it did not influence their minds against the Plaintiff, and because of their misconduct there must be a new trial."

The Oregon Court further quotes the New York Court, page 580, the case of *In re Vanderbilt*, 127 App. Div. 408, 111 N.Y.S. 558 as follows:

"We cannot determine with certainty, nor is it necessary that we should, that the acts complained of did influence the verdict. It is sufficient cause for reversal if they are likely to do so."

And further, page 580, the court quotes *Luquer vs. Bunnell*, (Sup.) 170 N.Y.S. 665, 666, as follows:

"The inspection by certain of the jurors of the place of the accident was without the knowledge of the attorneys herein, and was no doubt made without the slightest intention of wrongdoing; but it remains that those of the jury who made the visit had ocular evidence which was denied to their associates. It is important that every possible safeguard should be thrown around the conduct of a trial, to the end that no question can arise as to the fairness thereof."

The Oregon Court goes on to quote from *Rhode Is-*

land, P. 580, *Garcide vs. Land Watch Case Co.*, 17 RI 691, 24 A. 470, 472:

“The conduct of the jurors in thus obtaining evidence for themselves which, it may fairly be inferred, affected to a greater or less degree their verdict in the case, is wholly inexcusable and highly reprehensible. They were sworn to give a true verdict in the case, according to the law and the evidence given them. This means, as everybody knows, that the case is to be tried and decided solely upon the law and the evidence as given in the court, or under its immediate direction; and ‘to permit them to take into consideration evidence not produced upon the trial, and without the knowledge or consent of either party, is subversive of all rules which govern the admissibility of testimony, and of the right of a fair and impartial trial by jury.’ *Stewart vs. Burlington & Missouri River R. R. Co.*, 11 Iowa 62, 64.”

The Oregon Court further quotes from *Ohio, Losey vs. Creamer*, 45 Ohio App. 356, 187 N.E. 197, 198:

“The situation invokes the rule that where the misconduct may have been prejudicial, and it cannot be ascertained that prejudice did not result, **prejudice will be presumed**. This rule is a salutary one. Verdicts ought not be tainted by wrongdoing where injury may have resulted.”

Further, the Oregon Court quotes from *Minnesota*, page 581, the case of *Twaddle vs. Mendenhall*, 80 Minn. 177, 83 N.W. 135, 136:

“It is settled that misconduct of this nature (viewing premises) can be shown by the affidavits of the jurors themselves, an exception to the general rule in respect

to jurors' affidavits. It is also settled in this court that where the gist of the action, as was the case here, is the character or condition of the locus in quo, or where a view of it will enable the jurors the better to determine the credibility of the witnesses, or any other disputed facts in the case, if in such a case the jurors, without the permission of the court or knowledge of the parties, visit the locality for the express purpose of acquiring such information, their verdict will be set aside, unless it is clear that their misconduct could not and did not influence their verdict."

In the case of *Middleton vs. Kansas City Public Service Company*, (Missouri) 152 S.W. 2nd 154, a jury verdict for \$10,000 was returned in favor of the Plaintiff and against the Defendant. There was a showing of misconduct on the part of a juror in that he actively sought out a 1931 Chevrolet automobile to measure the fender. There was no finding by the court that the misconduct shown did not influence the verdict, nor that the Defendant was not prejudiced thereby. The Missouri Court, in reversing the lower court and ordering a new trial, stated as follows, Page 159:

"We think the record in the present case affirmatively shows the trial court did not exercise a sound judicial discretion in ruling the motion. In overruling the motion for a new trial, the trial court did not expressly or by implication determine prejudice or no prejudice to Defendant on account of the proven misconduct of the juror, because the records show the court ruled the motion upon the theory that the burden remained upon Defendant to show that the established misconduct of the juror influenced the verdict, even though the misconduct was established and it was such misconduct that prejudice would be presumed.

Although Defendant made a **prima facie** case of prejudice, the trial court did not rule that no prejudice resulted, but instead based its ruling on the theory that there must also be a showing the misconduct influenced the verdict. The court should have expressly determined the question of prejudice to Defendant or should have ruled the question as to whether or not the misconduct shown influenced the verdict. Since it did not do so, either expressly or by necessary implication, but placed its decision on other grounds, it cannot be said that the order overruling the motion represents the exercise of such a sound judicial discretion that it should not be disturbed on appeal."

The court goes on to state, page 160:

"In this case a verdict for \$10,000 signed by juror Tudor as foreman, was returned against the Defendant. The only evidence in the record to overcome the prima facie case of influence and prejudice was the affidavits of the jurors themselves, which affidavits, as we have seen, have little probative value. In addition nine of the affidavits are written in the same form. Defendant was entitled to have its case tried by twelve impartial jurors (Lee vs. Baltimore Hotel Co., 345 Mo. 458, 136 S.W. 2nd 695, 69 S.W.2d 8,127 A.L.R. 711); and to have a fair trial upon the evidence produced in court. In this case, the acts and conduct of juror Tudor definitely cast a shadow over the verdict. We cannot say, nor do we believe he could properly say, that his own interest, investigation, and measurements, admittedly made, did not influence his verdict. The affidavits of the other jurors do not say they did not learn of such measurements as made by juror Tudor, but state 'that if any mention was made * * * of measurements * * * not mentioned in evidence such measurements if any were mentioned, were not taken into consideration'.

We are unable to say from the whole record that the active interest and evident attitude of juror Tudor, and his independent search for and acquisition of facts outside the record did not influence the verdict or that Defendant was not prejudiced by the misconduct of this juror."

In another Oregon case, *Wolfe vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 366 P. 2nd 622, the jury returned a verdict for Plaintiff. Defendant moved for a new trial on the grounds one of the jurors had visited the scene of the accident. The court granted the motion, stating as follows, Page 624:

"It is the rule in this state that an unauthorized inspection of the locus in quo by a juror is ground for setting aside a verdict and granting a new trial unless it is clear that the misconduct could not have influenced the verdict."

In a Colorado case of *Butters vs. Dewan*, 363 P. 2nd 494, Plaintiff sought damages for the wrongful death of her husband and personal injuries to herself. The case was tried to a jury that returned a verdict of no cause of action. Plaintiff's motion for a new trial based upon jury misconduct was denied. The Colorado Appellate Court reversed the trial court and ordered a new trial. During the course of the trial and without the knowledge of either party or their counsel, one of the jurors made inquiry of the former employer of the deceased concerning the deceased's drinking habits. There was no evidence that the inquiry made influenced the jurors' verdict. The court stated, page 496:

"It is not the province of the court to speculate, conjecture or determine what or how much effect upon a

verdict the gross misconduct of a juror or jurors may in fact have in a particular case. While a correct determination might be possible in some cases, the inquiry would be impractical and useless in many cases and in all cases contain an element of speculation.

“The proper function of the court is to hear the facts of the alleged misconduct and to determine as a matter of law the effect reasonably calculated to be produced upon the minds of the jury by such misconduct. *McClellan vs. People*, 66 Colo. 486, 180 P. 676.

“The law is well stated in *Panko vs. Flintkote Co.*, 7 N.J. 55, 80 A. 2nd 602, 305, from which case we quote with approval:

‘it is well settled that the test for determining whether a new trial will be granted because of the misconduct of jurors or the intrusion of irregular influences is whether such matters could have a tendency to influence the jury in arriving at its verdict in a manner inconsistent with the legal proofs and the court’s charge. If the irregular matter has that tendency on the face of it, a new trial should be granted without further inquiry as to its actual effect. **The test is not whether the irregular matter actually influenced the result, but whether it had the capacity of doing so.** The stringency of this rule is grounded upon the necessity of keeping the administration of justice pure and free from all suspicion of corrupting practices. It is said to be imperatively required to secure verdicts based on proofs taken openly at the trial, free from all danger by extraneous influences’ * * *” (Emphasis supplied)

Page 497:

“As was stated in *Scott vs. Tubbs*, 43 Colo. 221, 95 P. 540, 541, 19 L.R.A., N.S., 733: ‘* * * * nor should

the court consider whether the verdict was or was not influenced by the petitioner. The conduct complained of is so manifestly improper that there is but one course open * * * .’

“Trial courts are ever vigilant in seeking to prevent extraneous matters from being presented and possibly influencing the minds of jurors. Jury verdicts must be based upon evidentiary facts properly before the jury for its consideration and determination. To condone this juror’s misconduct and to assume that his mind was uninfluenced by the extra-judicial investigation of incompetent, inadmissible matters, finds no sanction in the law. Such conduct deprives plaintiff of the fair and impartial trial to which every litigant under our law is entitled.”

Plaintiff adopts the sound reasoning of the courts herein quoted. Plaintiff strongly feels that he was deprived of a fair and impartial trial due to the misconduct of the juror. The juror himself in his affidavit states that his inspection and test could have influenced his verdict. The test was made under conditions dissimilar to that existing in the case. The juror stated in making the test that he came to a stop, then made the turn, whereas the testimony in the case was that the Defendant merely slowed down, rather than stopped. There is no evidence as to the type of vehicle used by the juror in making the test, and as to whether it was daylight or dark; or how the acceleration was attempted by the said juror; the condition of traffic, if any, as well as other matters all making the inspection and test unreliable and prejudicial as far as the Plaintiff is concerned.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON UNAVOIDABLE ACCIDENT.

There is no dispute but what this was a case of an automobile making a left hand turn and colliding with a pedestrian. There is no evidence in the case of a sudden illness, such as insulin shock, sudden and unpredicted mechanical failure or any evidence that the accident happened from an unknown or unforeseen cause or in an unexplainable manner. Defendant testified that Plaintiff loomed in head of him on the hood of his car; however, we can find no cases wherein courts have given credence to the apparition theory.

Though this Court has subscribed to the theory that an unavoidable accident instruction in the case of sudden and unanticipated or unpredicted insulin shock is a proper case for an instruction on unavoidable accident, Porter vs. Price, 11 Utah 2nd 80; nevertheless, it is clear by an abundance of cases that the instruction should not be given in an ordinary accident case that could be avoided by the exercise of proper care. It is expressly urged upon this Court that the instruction given in this particular case was completely improper, prejudicial and a basis for a new trial.

It is further urged to this Court that it should reconsider its prior rulings concerning an instruction covering unavoidable accident and that this Court should subscribe to the now extant California rule that an instruction as to unavoidable accident accomplishes nothing and lends undue emphasis to the defense. This Court in the case of

Porter vs. Price (Supra) considered the California case of Butigan vs. Yellow Cab Co., 49 Cal 2nd 652, 320 P. 2d. 500, 65 ALR 2nd 1.

Plaintiff is of the opinion that Chief Justice Gibson in the Butigan case properly states the law and its progress wherein Chief Justice Gibson states:

"In the modern negligence action the plaintiff must prove that the injury complained of was proximately caused by the defendant's negligence, and the defendant under a general denial may show any circumstance which militates against his negligence or its causal effect. The so called defense of inevitable accident is nothing more than a denial by the defendant of negligence, or a contention that his negligence, if any, was not the proximate cause of the injury

* * * *"

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