1965

Vernon J. Smith v. Wilmer Lee Barnett : Respondent's Brief

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

diabetic insulin shock. The verdict was in the defendant's favor and the plaintiff appealed on the basis that it was error to give the instruction on unavoidable accident. The court held the instruction to have been properly given, and drew an important distinction in rejecting the case of *Butigan v. Yellow Cab Co.*, 49 Cal. (2d) 652, 320 Pac. (2d) 500 (1958). The appellant there, as here, cited the *Butigan* case for the proposition that it is error to give the instruction. The court distinguished the *Butigan* case on these grounds:

“. . . In that case there was substantial evidence of negligence by the defendants, and there was almost no affirmative evidence that the accident resulted from any cause other than those circumstances which were under the control of an ordinary prudent man, yet the jury decided for the defendant. The court stressed this inconsistency in deciding that the instruction was prejudicial error, and such inconsistency is not present in the instant case. Here, much of the evidence tended to show circumstances beyond the control of a reasonable man and the jury decided accordingly. Also, in the *Butigan* case, the instructions themselves were misleading in suggesting to the jury that they 'should consider unavoidability as an issue or ground of defense separate and apart from the questions of negligence and proximate causation.' Such confusion is not apparent in the instruction here.”
(Pages 82-83)

The court then went on to lay down a test for when the instruction was proper:

“ . . . However, there are some situations where the evidence is susceptible of being so interpreted that an accident occurred without negligence on the part of anyone, and if it is *reasonably susceptible of such interpretation*, and a party requests it, the trial court commits no error in so advising the jury.” (Emphasis ours, Page 84)

The rule in Utah then is that the instruction will be allowed in circumstances where the evidence is reasonably susceptible of being interpreted as showing a lack of negligence on the parties involved. The *Butigan* doctrine has thus been rejected in Utah, as it has been in various other states. *Ridgway National Bank v. North American Van Lines Inc.*, 326 Fed. (2d) 934 (CCA 3rd 1964); *Panaro v. Cullen*, 185 A. (2d) 889 (1962); *Franco v. Fujimoto*, 47 Hawaii 408, 390 Pac. (2d) 740 (1964); *Hackworth v. Davis*, 87 Idaho 98, 390 Pac. (2d) 422 (1964). It should, however, be noted that even some of the California cases indicate doubt as to how far the *Butigan* case really went. *Raymer v. Ramirez*, 159 Cal. App. (2d) 372, 324 Pac. (2d) 83 (1958); and *Emerton v. Acres*, 160 Cal. App. (2d) 742, 325 Pac. (2d) 685 (1958).

The great majority of states allow the unavoidable accident instruction to be given. In 65 *A.L.R.* (2d) 24 it is stated that in most states the instruction may be given in motor vehicle cases where the evi-

dence discloses facts supporting such instruction. The note then cites 37 jurisdictions in support of that statement . The note also mentions on page 23 that the position taken by a few courts that do not allow the instruction “will no doubt continue to be productive of numerous appeals concerning matters not worth the attention, expense and risk they have entailed.”

The Utah rule, clearly allowing the instruction, leaves one final question: Whether there was such conclusive evidence of negligence in the present case that the trial court abused its discretion in giving the instruction. A review of the facts and cases similar to this situation shows that the court acted well within the limits of its discretion. There is no evidence that the defendant acted negligently in any of the sequence of events. He made a proper left turn after the immediate traffic going north had cleared. He had his lights on. He testified that he had looked at the crosswalk area before he turned, and that he saw nothing. His speed was well within the speed limit — testified to by the defendant and his wife as being less than 10 miles per hour. The defendant was driving with his foot on the brake. The plaintiff points out that the defendant was negligent in either not looking or not seeing what was there to be seen, but this is merely a conclusion that the plaintiff could have been seen. The defendant must see only that which a person acting reasonably under the given conditions would have seen. The facts

here show that there was no lighting in the area into which the defendant entered, that plaintiff was dressed in a dark suit, and that due to the nature of the turn defendant's lights may not have been focused on the area of impact until just before it occurred. The evidence seems easily susceptible of the interpretation that the defendant was not negligent.

There is also evidence that the plaintiff was acting without negligence in that he said he was walking in the crosswalk area and watching the north-bound traffic due to his knowledge that the traffic coming from the south often turned right onto Rainbow Drive.

It thus is clear that the evidence was reasonably susceptible of the interpretation that circumstances beyond the control of the parties were responsible for the accident, and not the acts of the parties. The combined factors of darkness and the positions of the parties created a situation which could reasonably be interpreted as the proximate cause of the accident. This point is illustrated in cases with similar situations.

In *Nelson v. Lott*, supra, the accident took place on a road leading into a rodeo ground from a highway. The plaintiff had parked his car on the shoulder of the highway and walked down to the ticket booth situated alongside the rodeo access road. He saw the defendant's stopped car about a rod away, facing the highway. He purchased his ticket

and stepped into the road with his back to the defendant's car as he folded his money. He was then struck by defendant's car. Witnesses said that the plaintiff had stepped in front of defendant's car so quickly that defendant had no time to stop. There were definite issues of negligence as to the actions of both parties, but the court also found that there was sufficient evidence of no negligence that the instruction was properly given.

In a recent New Mexico case the situation is almost identical with the present case, *Falkner v. Martin*, 74 N.M. 159, 391 Pac. (2d) 660 (1964). There the plaintiff was struck at an intersection one hour after sunset. There was a conflict of evidence as to whether she was in the crosswalk. The defendant was going 15 to 18 miles per hour with his lights on. There was no evidence that the plaintiff could have been seen by anyone in the car before she was actually hit. The testimony was that she "loomed in front of the car." The jury found no cause of action. The plaintiff appealed, asserting that it was error to give an instruction on unavoidable accident. The court affirmed the giving of the instruction. The court said that the prior case of *Lucero v. Torres*, 67 N.M. 10, 350 Pac. (2d) 1028 (1960) had established the rule that there may be due to the nature of the particular motor vehicle accident genuine questions of unavoidable accident. The court then quoted from the *Lucero* case suggestions

as to when such questions were raised:

“A prominent feature may be one of surprise, sudden appearance and reasonably unanticipated presence of a pedestrian, combined with circumstances which present a fair issue as to whether the failure of the driver of a motor vehicle to anticipate or sooner to guard against the danger or to avoid it, is consistent with a conclusion of the exercise of his due care. In such cases the trial courts are inclined to grant the instruction on unavoidable accident and their action in so doing is generally approved by the appellate courts.” (Citations omitted, supra at 662)

The court then held that there were issues of negligence as to both parties, but that nevertheless there was evidence of no negligence, thus warranting the instruction on unavoidable accident.

The reasoning of the New Mexico case is consonant with the Utah view of the unavoidable accident instruction. Thus, under the facts of the present case, which also indicate that the plaintiff “suddenly loomed” in front of the defendant’s car out of the darkness, the only possible conclusion is that the facts are reasonably susceptible to an interpretation of no negligence. The giving of the instruction should thus be affirmed.

POINT III.

The Court Properly Instructed The Jury To Disregard The Alleged Losses Suffered By Plaintiff’s Business.

The law is very clear in disallowing proof of business losses in a personal injury action where

the business loss is incapable of being proved directly attributable to the injury. The general rule is stated in 12 *A.L.R.* (2d) 296:

“It is a general rule that evidence of the profits of a business in which the plaintiff in a personal injury action is interested, which depend for the most part upon the employment of capital, the labor of others, or similar variable factors, is inadmissible in such an action and cannot be considered for the purpose of establishing the pecuniary value of lost time or loss or diminution of earning capacity, for the reasons that a loss of such profits is not the necessary consequence of the plaintiff's injury and that such profits are uncertain and speculative.”

This rule has been accepted in Utah. In *Rosenthal v. Harker*, 56 Utah 113, 189 Pac. 666 (1920) the court found that the business losses suffered by a junk dealer were properly considered in assessing damages against the defendant. The court in so holding clearly distinguished the situation from one where the business was supported by invested capital and labor of other persons. The court said on page 118:

“... There was no attempt made to prove profits realized from capital invested. In fact, the testimony tends to show that the plaintiff had no appreciable amount of capital invested in the business conducted by him. Therefore the profits proven, and of which defendant complains, partook almost wholly

of the nature of earnings realized by reason of the personal efforts and labor of the plaintiff. The authorities cited by counsel for defendant hold and adhere to the well established doctrine and the general rule that profits of a business should not be regarded as an element of damages in this class of cases. . . . We remark that ordinarily the rule announced by the cases cited and relied on is the proper one to be followed. However under the facts and circumstances of the present case, for the reasons heretofore stated, we think the admission of the testimony and the instruction of the court complained of by defendant was proper and right. There was no appreciable capital or investment in the business, and the profits or earnings therefrom depend entirely on the labor and personal efforts of plaintiff."

The present facts clearly indicate a situation where the general rule does apply. Plaintiff Smith was at the time of the accident one-third owner and general manager of the Towne and Country Rambler Corporation (R. 191). He claims that the \$11,000 obligation which he undertook subsequent to the accident was a proper element of damages. But that claim obviously cannot be sustained. First of all, the Towne and Country Rambler Corporation was a heavily capitalized corporation with an annual gross of nearly a million dollars (R. 229). It employed forty employees (R. 231). It sold new and used cars, and thus was in a market of considerable flux. These facts alone are sufficient under the general rule to exclude the use of its profits and losses and other

business related expenditures in assessing damages for plaintiff's personal injuries. See *Shewry v. Heur*, 255 Iowa 147, 121 N.W. (2d) 529 (1963). It is true that the plaintiff occupied an important position in the operation of the corporation, but the fact that substantial capital and labor outside of his own was being employed negates the direct link necessary between the business fortunes and the plaintiff's services. Under the rule of the *Rosenthal* case the evidence was properly rejected.

However, there is also another reason for not allowing the evidence as to the \$11,000 obligation — there is no proof that the plaintiff in fact did suffer any loss or impairment of his cash position. The evidence was somewhat confusing, but it appeared that the plaintiff acquired the other two-thirds stock in the corporation and gave in consideration the note for \$11,000. He thus suffered no loss on that transaction. He then transferred the stock to a man named Bostrom in exchange for Bostrom's promise to make available to the Corporation \$55,000.00, \$20,000 of which he soon paid to the Corporation (R. 249). The testimony indicates that the Corporation was in financial trouble even before the accident (R. 262), that there had been large net losses from September, 1962 through December of that year (R. 231) and that the cash position on the 1st of December was poor, with only \$766 in the bank (R. 242). The \$20,000 paid in by Bostrom helped the cash position of the Corporation, and by February sub-

stantial profits were being shown by the Corporation (R. 233) and total liabilities were reduced (R. 234). Plaintiff said they were back on their feet by March (R. 244). The total sales in 1963 were above 1962 (R. 237) and plaintiff testified that he made more money in 1963 than he did in 1962 (R. 237). The evidence submitted was highly speculative as to whether there ever was a loss on the \$11,000 obligation. It could have resulted in a profit to plaintiff due to its life saving effect upon the Corporation. And the evidence was not clear as to whether the obligation was in fact upon the Corporation and not the plaintiff.

Under the facts presented the plaintiff could not even prove a loss had occurred as well as show that the loss was directly attributable to his injury. The facts negate both propositions. Thus, the ruling of the trial court that the claim of loss was too speculative or remote was proper under the facts and the law.

The plaintiff also makes the novel argument that the striking of evidence by Instruction No. 10 is prejudicial error because it lends undue emphasis to the defendant. However, the general rule is that an instruction should be used in order to prevent prejudice upon the party moving for the evidence to be stricken. The rule is stated in *53 Am. Jur., Trial, Section 671, page 518*:

“In like manner, where evidence is admitted upon the theory that its relevancy may

be subsequently shown by other evidence, and such evidence is not introduced, the court should exclude the irrelevant evidence on its own motion and instruct the jury to disregard it.”

The facts in this case show that if any prejudice was worked, it was upon the defendant by the allowance of extensive testimony as to the alleged business loss of the plaintiff. The evidence was allowed in with the condition that if it was not tied up later the court would entertain a motion to strike (R. 203). Thus, when it was not tied up, the court was obligated to strike it by an instruction to the jury.

It appears that if every time the court strikes evidence by an instruction it is construed to mean that it disbelieves that party's case not only would the court's powers be stifled but great prejudices would be worked upon the moving party. The court gave the benefit of the doubt to the plaintiff in allowing the evidence. The plaintiff, therefore, has no right to the benefit of the doubt when the evidence is stricken. Giving an instruction is the only equitable means to strike evidence allowed in with the condition that it be tied up later. The defendant had a right to have the jury clearly instructed that the evidence was not to be considered. And the plaintiff's fear that the jury may think the judge does not believe the evidence is a hazard endured by both parties whenever the court rules, and clearly is not error.

POINT IV.

The Instructions To The Jury When Read As A Whole Were Not Prejudicial To The Plaintiff.

The plaintiff in Point 4 of his Brief points out that the instructions over-emphasized the defendant's case, but he supports that assertion with what seems to be an objection to the chronological order of the instructions and not their content. It has been clearly pointed out in a recent case that the instructions must be considered as a whole, and the fact that a supplemental instruction is given on contributory negligence does not mean that undue emphasis is to be implied to the plaintiff's detriment. *Hill v. Cloward*, 14 Utah (2d) 55, 377 Pac. (2d) 186 (1962). The fact that the instructions dealing with the duties of defendant were given last is not in and of itself material. If the instructions adequately expressed the law of the case and were not given in such a way as to mislead the jury they are adequate and further inquiry is not warranted. 53 *Am. Jur., Trial, Section 561, page 445.*

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